RECEIVED

Apr 28 2026

SC Court of Appeals

In the S. C. Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
2017CP2308016

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity Judge

Case No. 2024-002207

Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. Plaintiff – Respondent

v.

Michelle Hodges, Individually and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Ruth Ladson Witherspoon; Stanley Witherspoon;
SC Housing Corp.; and Twin Creeks Homeowners Association,
Inc. Defendants,

Of Whom Michelle Hodges, in her Individual capacity,
is the Appellant.

EXHIBIT "A"
APPELLANT'S PROPOSED
SUBSTITUTE INITIAL BRIEF

Michelle Hodges
6 Young Harris Dr.
Simpsonville, SC 29681

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the Circuit Court and the S. C. Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law in concluding that Wells Fargo had standing to foreclose, where the Circuit Court based its ruling on possession of the original note endorsed in blank or, alternatively, as the loan servicer, and neither court addressed the timing of entitlement raised by Appellant and the record contains no evidence that Wells Fargo established entitlement to enforce the note at the time the complaint was filed?

II. Whether the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in concluding that the notice requirements under the Note and Mortgage were satisfied prior to commencement of this action, where the Court relied on Wells Fargo's February 16, 2017 default letter as the basis for that conclusion, despite the May 1, 2017 default found in the final order and the order does not identify the specific provisions governing notice?

III. Whether the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in failing to construe the Special Warranty Deed as a whole, where the Court rejected joint tenancy and refused to consider and harmonize the habendum and granting clauses so as to give effect to all provisions of the Deed?

IV. Whether the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in finding that Wells Fargo complied with Foreclosure Intervention requirements under the S.C. Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01, and in finding that the Appellant's noncompliance claim was abandoned, where both findings required legal analysis that the court did not perform?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COMPLAINT AND ANSWER

On December 22, 2017, Wells Fargo filed its foreclosure complaint (R.p. __). On July 30, 2018, The Appellant filed her Sixth Amended Answer, which included Counterclaims and Defenses. (R.p. __).

B. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On June 10, 2019, counsel for Wells Fargo moved for Summary Judgment (R. p. __) On July 12, 2019, the Appellant filed a Memorandum and Affidavit in Opposition to the Respondent's motion for summary judgment (R. p. __). On July 18, 2019, Wells Fargo filed its Reply in Support of Summary Judgment (R. p. __). On August 7, 2019, the Honorable Perry H. Gravely,

sitting for the Circuit Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent and dismissed all of Appellant's Counter Claims and Defenses. (R. p.__). On August 16, 2019 the Appellant filed a motion to Alter/Amend under South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59 and the Circuit Court denied this motion on August 22, 2019.

C. FIRST APPEAL AND REMITTITUR

On September 6, 2019 Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court regarding the Circuit Court's Order of Summary Judgment. On September 16, 2019 Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal with the S. C. Supreme Court, whom forwarded the Notice to the S. C. Court of Appeals on September 17, 2019 (R.p.__). On January 22, 2021 the Appellant filed her Final Brief. On March 30, 2021. Respondent filed its Final Brief. On August 17, 2022, the S. C. Court of Appeals Affirmed the Circuit Court's Order of Summary Judgment Order (S. C. COA Decision, p.__). On March 15, 2024 the S. C. Court of Appeals issued a Remittitur.

D. FINAL HEARING AND FINAL ORDER OF FORECLORE AND SALE

On November 21, 2024 the Final Hearing was held before the Master-in-Equity for Greenville County, the Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., sitting for the Circuit Court. (Tr. p.__). On December 12, 2024, the Circuit Court entered a final Order of Foreclosure and Sale with a judgment in the amount of \$213,656.01 (R.p.__).

E. POST HEARING MOTIONS AND SECOND APPEAL

On December 23, 2024, The Appellant filed post hearing motions that were denied on December 27 2024. On December 27, 2024, the Appellant filed her signed Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court. On December 30, 2024 the S. C. Court of Appeals clocked the Appellant's Notice of Appeal as recieved.

F. BANKRUPTCY AND FORECLOSURE REMOVED FROM THE DOCKET

On January 31, 2025, the Movant filed a Chapter 13 Bankruptcy petition. On March 24, 2025, Wells Fargo filed a motion/order removing the Foreclosure action from the docket, in the Circuit Court (R.p. ___). On April 3, 2025 the Appellant's Bankruptcy Petition was dismissed. On April 6, 2025 the Appellant subsequently filed a second Chapter 13 Bankruptcy petition, this Bankruptcy Stay ended on May 6, 2025. On August 29, 2025, the Bankruptcy was dismissed.

G. POST APPEAL PROCEDURAL DEVELOPMENTS

On August 26, 2025, the Appellant returned to the Circuit Court and filed an emergency Motion for a Stay, pending Appeal. On September 15, 2025, the Circuit Court issued a general denial of Appellant's Emergency Motion (R. p. ___). On October 6, the Circuit Court issued an Order disallowing any further filings, from the Appellant, until the Foreclosure Appeal is resolved (R.p. ___). On February 20, 2026, Wells Fargo filed a motion to restore its Foreclosure action to the docket and requested that a sale date be set. On February 26, the Circuit Court issued an Order restoring the Foreclosure to the docket to proceed with a sale (R.p. ___).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. An action to foreclose a real estate mortgage is an action in equity. *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 248, 489 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1997).

B. This Court is not bound by the trial court's legal conclusions. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 718-19 (2000); See also *S.C. Const. art. V, § 5* (providing this state's appellate courts have jurisdiction to correct trial court's erroneous legal findings in law and equity cases)

C. All issues presented in this appeal, are all questions of law reviewed de novo. See *Hammond v. Lindsay*, 277 S.C. 118, 284 S.E.2d 581 (1981)

D. Under South Carolina law, a judgment will be reversed where there is no evidence to support

the trial court's ruling or where the ruling was controlled by an error of law. See **Clark v. S.C. Dep't of Public Safety, 362 SC. 377, 382-83, 608 S.E. 2d 573, 576 (2005).**

STATEMENT OF FACTS PRE-LITIGATION

A. MRS. WITHERSPOON'S EXECUTION OF NOTE MORTGAGE AND DEATH

On March 28, 2012 Mrs. Ruth Ladson Witherspoon, Appellant's Mother, executed a note and mortgage in favor of NVR Finance, Inc., to purchase 6 Young Harris Drive. On March 29 2012, the Mortgage and Special Warranty Deed were recorded. The granting clause of the Deed reflects that the subject property was conveyed "to Ruth Witherspoon, her heirs and assigns forever", and the habendum clause reflects, "to have and to hold unto the grantees as joint tenants and not as tenants in common" (Special Warranty Deed, p.__) . At some point in time Wells Fargo became the servicer of the loan and acted as the agent responsible for disbursing escrow funds for taxes and insurance. On July 5, 2015, Mrs. Witherspoon passed away (Death Certs. p. __).

LITIGATION FACTS

COMPLAINT AND ANSWER STAGE:

A. Complaint Allegations

- (1) Paragraph 3 of the Complaint, alleged that Wells Fargo had the legal right to enforce the negotiable instrument and that it was the real party in interest. (Compl. p. __).
- (2) Paragraph 5 of the Complaint, alleged that the Defenants may have some interest in the subject property. (Comp., p. __).
- (3) Paragraph 8 of the Complaint, alleged that Ruth Witherspoon executed and delivered the Mortgage to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems (MERS), Inc., as nominee for NVR Mortgage Finance, Inc., its successors and assigns. (Comp., p. __).
- (4) Paragraph 8 of the complaint further alleged that the subject property was conveyed to Ruth

Witherspoon by Deed of NVR that recorded on March 29, 2012 in Deed Book DE 2403 at Page 2222 and that the Appellant was an Heir (Compl., p. __).

(5) Paragraph 12, of the Complaint alleges a default as of May 1, 2017, (Compl. p. __).

Outside of the Complaint and in relation to Foreclosure Intervention

(6) The record reflects that on February 2, 2018, counsel for Wells Fargo filed a document entitled "Certificate of Non Owner Occupancy Due To The Death Of the Mortgagor, that certificate alleged that the loan did not qualify for Foreclosure Intervention (Cert., p. __).

B. Answer Responses

(1) In response to Paragraph 3, Sixth Amended answer denied that Wells Fargo had the right to enforce the Note and asserted that Wells Fargo failed to attach a copy of the Note to the complaint demonstrating holder status at the time of filing the Complaint. (Sixth A.A. p. __).

(2) In response Paragraph 5, the Sixth Amended answer asserted that the Appellant owned the subject property jointly with her Mother and Brother by virtue of the Special Warranty Deed recorded on March 29, 2012, in Deed Book DE 2403 at Pages 2222–2223 (Sixth A.A., p. __).

(3) In Response to Paragraph 8, the Sixth Amended Answer denied, in part that Wells Fargo was the successor in interest to NVR, Inc., and asserted that Wells Fargo neither attached the Note to the complaint nor claimed possession of it in the complaint (Sixth A.A., p. __).

(4) In further response to Paragraph 8. The Appellant did not deny the allegation that the subject property was conveyed to Ruth Witherspoon.

(5) In response to paragraph 12, the Sixth Amended answer disputes the basis of the default and referenced the escrow statements. The Sixth Amended answer also asserted that Plaintiff overpaid the property taxes and subsequently increased the payment by \$300.00 (Sixth Amended Answer, p. __ lines __, p. __, lines __).

Response to Foreclosure Intervention Certificate

(6) The Appellant's Sixth Amended asserts that the Appellant, made contact with Rogers Townsend and Thomas (Wells Fargo's Counsel, whom filed the complaint) and spoke to Diedra and was informed that their office does not provide foreclosure intervention and only sends out the notice to comply with the state requirement and she stated "contact your lender" (Sixth A.A., p.__). The Sixth Amended answer further asserts that Wells Fargo's Certificate was fraud upon the court and that the Plaintiff fraudulently claimed that the subject property was non owner occupied to avoid providing foreclosure intervention. (Sixth A.A., p.__, p__).

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STAGE:

C. Motion for Summary Judgment

Wells Fargo moved for summary judgment attaching a copy of the note to the motion and the motion states that Wells Fargo was in possession of the original Note endorsed in blank and therefore had the right to enforce it under S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301. Wells Fargo also argued against the Appellant's counterclaims and defenses. The motion did not include a supporting affidavit or documentation authenticating the note.

(MSJ p. __, __).

D. Memo In Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment

The Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment, asserted that lack of standing remained a disputed material fact, emphasizing that the complaint contained neither an allegation nor any attachment demonstrating that Wells Fargo possessed the original note at the time the complaint was filed (Memo. in Opp. p. __). The Note was not authenticated,

E. Circuit Court Summary Judgment Order:

(1) The Circuit Court granted summary judgment for Wells Fargo and the order reflected that Appellant's affirmative defense of lack of standing failed as a matter of law, citing S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 and Further dismissed all of the Appellant's counter claims and defenses with prejudice. (S.J. Order p. __).

(2) The court found no genuine issue of material fact as to standing based on either possession of the original Note endorsed in blank or Wells Fargo's status as loan servicer (S.J. Order p. __). The order did not address Appellant's argument that Wells Fargo failed to show possession of the Note at the time the Complaint was filed.

(3) In its motion for summary judgment, Wells Fargo asserted that payment of the property taxes was governed by contract (MSJ, p. __). The Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment, stated, that her relationship with Wells Fargo depended on payments for taxes and insurance being properly made to the proper entities from the escrow account (Memo in Opp., p. __).

(4) Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment did not provide evidence of a default or a default letter.

(5) The Motion for summary judgment reflects, during the course of this litigation, Defendant has indicated to counsel for Wells Fargo that she did not wish to participate in the foreclosure intervention process. (See Certificate of Compliance with Administrative Order No. 2011-05-02-01 filed on July 16, 2019.) (Reply in Supp. of S.J., p. __).

(See Appellant's Memorandum in opposition to Wells Fargo's Certificate of compliance, filed on July 18, 2019, which reflects the Appellant's attempts to participate in foreclosure intervention (Memo in Opp. to Cert of Comp., p. __).

FIRST APPEAL STAGE (FOR CONTEXT)

F. South Carolina Court of Appeals Ruling

The Appellant appealed the Circuit Court's Order of Summary Judgment in favor of Wells Fargo. The South Carolina Court of Appeals addressed standing under S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 based on possession of the original Note endorsed in blank. However, the Court of Appeals did not reach the timing issue because it was not raised on appeal (COA Decision p. __).

FINAL HEARING STAGE

G. Final Hearing

(1) At the final hearing, the Transcript reflects that Wells Fargo's witness testified that Wells Fargo possessed the original Note endorsed in blank (Tr. p. __). The Transcript does not reflect any testimony establishing that Wells Fargo possessed the original Note at the time the Complaint was filed.

The Transcript reflects the following:

(2) The Note was entered into evidence and paragraph 6B provides, "This Notes does not authorize acceleration when not authorized by HUD regulations".(Note, p.__); (Tr. p.__).

(3) The Mortgage was entered into evidence and paragraph 9(d) provides, "This Security Instrument does not authorize acceleration or foreclosure if not permitted by regulations of the Secretary." (Mortgage, p.__); Tr. p.__).

(4) The Transcript reflects that the Circuit Court ruled from the bench that the subject property was granted to Ruth Witherspoon, after acknowledging the granting clause and further reflects that the Court refused to hear the Habendum clause. Transcript. (Tr., p.__).

(5) The Note was entered into evidence and paragraph 6B states, "This Notes does not authorize acceleration when not authorized by HUD regulations".(Note, p.__); (Tr. p.__). The Mortgage was entered into evidence and paragraph 9(d) states, "This Security Instrument does not authorize

acceleration or foreclosure if not permitted by regulations of the Secretary." (Mortgage, p.__); Tr. p.__).

(6) The Transcript reflects that the witness testified regarding a February 16, 2017 letter and identified it as a default letter providing an opportunity to cure before initiating foreclosure (Tr. p.__). The Transcript further reflects that Wells Fargo introduced into evidence a payment history showing that payments were received after the February 16, 2017 letter and that the witness testified that the loan was due for May 1, 2017 (Tr., p.__). The record does not contain any evidence that Wells Fargo complied with the HUD regulations incorporated into the Note and Mortgage as a condition precedent to acceleration in relation to the May 1, 2017 alleged default.

(7) The Transcript reflects that Wells Fargo's counsel requested that the court take judicial notice that an heir does not qualify for the Foreclosure Intervention program and further that Appellant had abandoned her claim of non-compliance (Tr., p.__). Wells Fargo's attorney handed the court an administrative document dated June 7, 2011, which was neither provided to Appellant for review nor entered into the evidentiary record (Tr., p.__). The transcript does not reflect that Wells Fargo presented any evidence at the final hearing that it complied with the Foreclosure Intervention communication requirement or that Appellant had abandoned her claim of Wells Fargo's non compliance with the requirements.

CIRCUIT COURT'S FINAL RULINGS STAGE:

H. Final Rulings

(1) The Final Order stated, "Plaintiff is the holder of the Note and assignee of the Mortgage and has standing to proceed" (Final Order p. __). The court also found that Wells Fargo possessed the original Note endorsed in blank, based on testimony at the final hearing (Final Order p. __).

- (2) The Final Order reflects that the loan is due for May 1, 2017. (Final Order, p. __). The Final Order also held that Demand letter satisfied the notice requirements of the Note and Mortgage and had been given to the Defendant/Appellant prior to commencement of this action. (Final Order p. __). The Final Order does not identify the notice requirements of the note and mortgage.
- (3) The Final Order reflects that the Circuit Court rejected joint tenancy and held that the subject property was conveyed to "Ruth Witherspoon, her successors and assigns" and found that the lien survived Ruth Witherspoon's death. (Final Order, p. __, lines __; p. __, lines __).
- (4) The Final Order found that Wells Fargo had complied with the Foreclosure Intervention requirements and that the Appellant had abandoned her claim of Wells Fargo's non compliance with fore-closure intervention. (Final Order, p. __). The final order reflects findings of compliance and abandon-ment, without identifying the unerlying legal analysis supporing these conclusions.

ARGUMENTS

I. Issue One - Standing

THE CIRCUIT COURT AND THE S.C. COURT OF APPEALS ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT WELLS FARGO HAD STANDING TO FORECLOSE, WHERE THE CIRCUIT COURT BASED ITS RULING ON POSSESSION OF THE ORIGINAL NOTE ENDORSED IN BLANK OR, ALTERNATIVELY, AS THE LOAN SERVICER, AND NEITHER COURT ADDRESSSED THE TIMING OF ENTITLEMENT RAISED BY APPELLANT, AND THE RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT WELLS FARGO ESTABLISHED ENTITLEMENT TO ENFORCE THE NOTE AT THE TIME THE COMPLAINT WAS FILED.

A. Governing Law:

- (1) In South Carolina, standing to sue is a fundamental requirement that must exist at the time the action is instituted. See *Blandon v. Coleman*, 285 S.C. 413 472, 475, 330 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1985). See also *Brock v. Bennett*, 313 S.C. 513, 519, 443 S.E.2d 409, 412 (Ct.App.1994).
- (2) In a foreclosure action, the Plaintiff must establish that it is a person entitled to enforce the

Note pursuant to S. C. Code § 36-3-301. See *Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 217, 747 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 2013).

(3) "Standing must be proven "with the manner and degree of evidence required at the successive stage of the litigation." in *Town of Arcadia Lakes v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Evtl. Control*, 404 S. C. 515, 529, 745 S.E.2d 385, 392 (Ct. Ap. 2013). See also, *Hollingsworth v. Perry*, 570 U. S. 693 (2013), (holding that Standing must be met at every stage of the litigation).

B. Argument

(1) Taking the record as it existed, the record does not establish that Wells Fargo was entitled to enforce the Note at the time the complaint filed, either as the alleged holder or as a servicer acting on behalf of a party entitled to enforce the note.

(2) The Final Order reflects that the Circuit Court conflated two distinct inquiries (Holder status and standing) and consequently made one broad ruling that Wells Fargo had standing. The Court determined that Wells Fargo was entitled to enforce the note, based on witness testimony at the final hearing, that Wells Fargo was in possession of the original note endorsed in blank. (Final Order, p.__). However, the blank endorsements are undated and do not establish that Wells Fargo had enforcement rights at the time the complaint was filed. (Note, p.__)

(3) For context, in the first appeal, the S. C. Court of Appeals deferred to the Circuit Court's standing ruling, affirmed, and stated that the ruling was supported by evidence. However, the Court, did not identify any specific evidence establishing that Wells Fargo was entitled to enforce the note at the time the action was instituted. (COA Dec., p.__).

(4) Testimony at the final hearing whereby the witness authenticated the note, with undated endorsements cannot serve as evidence of standing at the time the complaint was filed. Therefore, a standing defect exists in the record at the time the complaint was filed and the Court

should not have entered judgment without proof that Wells Fargo had the right to enforce the note at the time the complaint was filed. Here, the Court equated holder status with standing and applied the wrong legal standard resulting in an error of law and this Court should reverse the Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale.

II. Issue Two - Notice:

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