RECEIVED

Jul 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr.
Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-002207
Circuit Court Case No. 2017-CP-23-08016

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Michelle Hodges, Individually; Michelle Hodges, as the Personal
Representative of the Estate of Ruth Ladson Witherspoon; Stanley
Witherspoon; SC Housing Corp.; and Twin Creeks Homeowners
Association, Inc., Defendants

of which Michelle Hodges, Individually Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

S. Sterling Laney, III
sterling.laney@wbd-us.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal is narrow. After remittitur from the first appeal, the case returned to the Master in Equity for a final foreclosure hearing. The issues at that hearing were whether Wells Fargo proved the remaining elements necessary for foreclosure and whether Hodges established any legally cognizable defense. Wells Fargo carried its burden. Hodges did not. Instead, she uses this appeal to revisit issues resolved years ago by Judge Gravely's summary judgment order, affirmed by this Court, left undisturbed by the South Carolina Supreme Court, and finalized by remittitur. Those issues are not before this Court again.

At the final foreclosure hearing, Wells Fargo presented competent evidence supporting foreclosure. It introduced the note, mortgage, recorded assignment, payment history, demand letter, and judgment figures, all of which were admitted into evidence, without objection. Its witness testified that Wells Fargo serviced the loan, held the note endorsed in blank, stopped receiving payments, sent the demand letter, and calculated the amount due. That evidence supported the Master's findings on the debt, default, standing, notice, and amount due.

Hodges proved no defense. She did not prove payment, lack of consideration, accord and satisfaction, or anything else that defeats foreclosure. Instead, she argued that she is not personally liable and that the mortgage vanished when Ruth Witherspoon died. None of that defeats Wells Fargo's foreclosure claim.

The prior appeal ended the litigation over the dismissed counterclaims and defenses. The final foreclosure hearing addressed foreclosure, and Wells Fargo carried its burden. The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. This Appeal Is Limited to the Final Foreclosure Judgment, Not Issues Already Resolved by the Prior Appeal.

The threshold problem with Hodges's appeal is scope. This case returned from the first appeal for a final foreclosure hearing. It did not return for another round of litigation over counterclaims, affirmative defenses, escrow complaints, or other matters resolved by the 2019 summary judgment order and subsequent appeal. Judge Gravely granted summary judgment in Wells Fargo's favor, struck Hodges's jury demand, and dismissed her counterclaims and affirmative defenses. Hodges appealed that order. This Court affirmed. The Supreme Court denied certiorari. Remittitur issued. At that point, the issues resolved by the summary judgment order were final.

Hodges cannot use this second appeal to do what she failed to accomplish in the first. This appeal does not reopen every issue in the case. It does not permit a party to revive dismissed counterclaims, repackage rejected defenses, or impose on Wells Fargo the burden to re-litigate matters already affirmed on appeal. The only proper focus is whether the Master erred in entering the foreclosure judgment based on the evidence admitted at the November 21, 2024 hearing.

That limitation matters here because much of Hodges's brief is aimed at issues outside that narrow posture. None of those arguments provides a basis to reverse the foreclosure judgment entered after the final hearing. They are collateral attacks on final rulings.

The proper questions are therefore narrow: did Wells Fargo prove the foreclosure, and did Hodges prove a legally cognizable defense? The record answers yes to the first question and no to the second. This Court should not allow the appeal to expand beyond that record.

II. Hodges's Standing Argument Fails Procedurally and on the Record.

Standing is Hodges's first issue, but it is not a basis for reversal. Her standing argument fails for two independent reasons. First, she cannot use this second appeal to relitigate standing after the prior summary judgment order was affirmed and remittitur issued. Second, even if standing were still an issue, Wells Fargo proved standing at the final hearing.

The procedural point is dispositive. Judge Gravely's 2019 Order Granting Summary Judgment rejected Hodges's defenses and counterclaims, including her challenge to Wells Fargo's ability to proceed. Hodges appealed. This Court affirmed. The Supreme Court denied certiorari, and remittitur issued. Hodges's attempt to go behind the prior appeal and challenge Wells Fargo's standing from the beginning of the case is outside the proper scope of this appeal.

In any event, the record defeats the standing argument on the merits. South Carolina law does not require Wells Fargo to prove standing in the manner Hodges demands. Under *Draper*, a holder or servicer has standing to foreclose. *Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 226–28, 746 S.E.2d 478, 485–86 (Ct. App. 2013); S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301. Wells Fargo satisfied both routes. It presented the original note endorsed in blank, and its witness testified that Wells Fargo held the original note and serviced the loan.

The recorded assignment also supports standing. The mortgage was assigned to Wells Fargo by assignment recorded January 20, 2017, before this action was filed. The assignment was admitted into evidence. Hodges cannot plausibly claim Wells Fargo lacked any interest in the mortgage when the record contains the recorded assignment, the original note endorsed in blank, and testimony that Wells Fargo serviced the loan.

Hodges's insistence on proof of possession at the precise moment of the filing of the Complaint does not change the result. Wells Fargo produced the original note at the final hearing,

the note was endorsed in blank, and the mortgage assignment was recorded before suit. The Master in Equity therefore correctly found that Wells Fargo had standing to proceed.

Hodges did not object when the note was admitted into evidence, and she did not challenge the indorsements when Wells Fargo's witness identified them. (Tr. pp. 10–11, 13–14.) To the contrary, after reviewing the original note, she told the Master that the case “doesn't turn on the possession of the note,” and confirmed she had no questions about the documents she had been shown. (Tr. p. 11.) Only later did she attack the witness's lack of firsthand knowledge, but the Master in Equity correctly rejected that objection under the business records foundation. (Tr. pp. 29–30, 40.) She cannot now convert unobjected-to admitted evidence into reversible error.

Nor does the absence of a date on the indorsements create a standing defect. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-204(a) provides that an indorsement is a signature placed on an instrument for purposes such as negotiating the instrument. The statute focuses on the signature, its placement on the instrument, and its purpose. It says nothing about a date. Hodges's argument therefore asks this Court to add a requirement South Carolina's Commercial Code does not impose.

The relevant facts are simple. Wells Fargo produced the original note at the final hearing, and the note bore indorsements culminating in a blank indorsement. Because S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-204(a) defines what an indorsement is without imposing a dating requirement, the Master in Equity was not required to reject the note or disregard the indorsements merely because the indorsements did not recite dates.

Nor can Hodges manufacture a standing defect by attacking Wells Fargo's witness. The Master in Equity admitted the evidence after Wells Fargo laid the business records foundation. A witness need not have personally participated in the original loan transaction to testify from business records if the proper foundation is established. *See Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private*

Equity Group, LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 68-70, 773 S.E.2d 607, 613-14 (Ct. App. 2015). Wells Fargo's witness testified to his familiarity with Wells Fargo's recordkeeping practices and the loan records. The Master properly overruled Hodges's objection.

III. Wells Fargo Proved the Remaining Foreclosure Elements.

South Carolina foreclosure law is straightforward. The foreclosing party must prove the debt and default. Once it does, the burden shifts to the opposing party to prove a defense such as payment, lack of consideration, or accord and satisfaction. *U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 376–77, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205-06 (Ct. App. 2009). Wells Fargo satisfied that burden with documentary evidence and testimony admitted at the final hearing.

The evidence established the existence of the debt. Ruth Witherspoon executed the note to finance the purchase of the property and executed the mortgage securing repayment. The mortgage was recorded. Wells Fargo introduced the loan documents, assignment, payment history, demand letter, and judgment figures, and the Master in Equity admitted them. Hodges did not introduce evidence that the note was paid, released, satisfied, or otherwise unenforceable.

The evidence also established default and the amount due. Wells Fargo's witness testified that Wells Fargo stopped receiving payments, declared the loan in default, and that the contractual default due date was May 1, 2017. (Tr. pp. 20, 22–24, 31.) The payment history and judgment figures supported the amount due. (Tr. pp. 19–20, 24–25.) The Master in Equity found \$213,656.01 due in the foreclosure judgment. (JOFS ¶ 24.) The Supplemental Judgment later updated the debt to \$222,274.31 and confirmed the foreclosure judgment in all other respects. (Supplemental Order at 2.)

IV. Hodges Proved No Defense to Foreclosure.

Hodges advances a collection of arguments concerning contractual notice, HUD regulations, and foreclosure intervention. Although presented as separate theories, each rests on the same flawed premise: that Wells Fargo failed to satisfy a condition precedent to foreclosure. The record does not support that contention.

A. The Master in Equity Properly Found That Wells Fargo Satisfied Any Contractual Notice Requirement

The Judgement of Foreclosure and Sale found that Wells Fargo provided the notice required by the note and mortgage before commencement of the action. (JOFS ¶ 22.) That finding is supported by the record. Wells Fargo introduced the February 16, 2017 demand letter without objection, and its witness testified concerning the letter and the opportunity to cure provided before the foreclosure action was filed. (Tr. pp. 20–21.) The Master in Equity, therefore, correctly found any contractual notice requirement had been satisfied. Hodges focuses on the fact that the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale identifies May 1, 2017 as the contractual due date. But she does not explain how that finding renders the demand letter inadequate under any specific provision of the note or mortgage. Nor does she identify any evidence demonstrating that additional contractual notice was required.

B. Hodges Did Not Preserve a HUD Face-to-Face Defense

Hodges's HUD face-to-face argument is not preserved. An issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.").

That did not happen here. Despite filing six amended answers and counterclaims, Hodges never pleaded a HUD face-to-face defense. At the final foreclosure hearing, she did not ask the Master in Equity to decide whether any HUD regulation applied, whether Wells Fargo complied with such a regulation, or whether any alleged noncompliance barred foreclosure. The Master in Equity therefore made no ruling on HUD face-to-face compliance.

That omission is dispositive. Hodges cannot convert an unpreserved HUD theory into reversible error by recasting it on appeal as part of her contractual-notice argument. Because the issue was never raised to or ruled upon by the Master, there is nothing for this Court to review.

C. Hodges Expressly Abandoned Any Foreclosure Intervention Defense

On May 2, 2011, then Chief Justice Jean Toal issued an administrative order (the “May 2011 Administrative Order”). *In re Mortg. Foreclosure Actions*, 396 S.C. 209, 720 S.E.2d 908 (2011). The May 2011 Administrative Order created a statewide procedure for foreclosure intervention and loss mitigation in residential mortgage foreclosure cases. *Id.* It required mortgagees to provide eligible borrowers notice of the right to foreclosure intervention and, before proceeding to final hearing or sale, to certify that applicable loss-mitigation efforts had been completed or were unsuccessful. *Id.* Noncompliance with that process could prevent or delay foreclosure because a lender was not supposed to proceed to judgment or sale until the administrative-order requirements were satisfied. But the May 2011 Administrative Order operated as a procedural safeguard for eligible borrowers pursuing foreclosure intervention, not as a defense a borrower may abandon at the hearing and later revive on appeal.

At the final hearing, when Wells Fargo addressed the May 2011 Administrative Order, Hodges expressly stated: “I’m not concerned about that anymore.” (Tr. p. 42.) The Master in Equity subsequently found that the issue had been abandoned. (JOFS ¶ 9.). That finding should

end the inquiry. A litigant may not disclaim an issue before the trial court, permit the court to proceed on that understanding, and then seek reversal based on the very issue she elected to abandon. *Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel*, 422 S.C. 499, 505, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018) (“When an appellant expressly waives an argument at trial, it cannot be raised on appeal.”).

V. Hodges’s Joint-Tenancy/Extinguishment Theory Cannot Erase Wells Fargo’s Recorded Purchase-Money Mortgage.

Hodges’s remaining theory is not a foreclosure defense. She claims Ruth Witherspoon took title with Hodges as joint tenants with right of survivorship and that, because Hodges did not sign the mortgage, Wells Fargo’s lien was extinguished when Ruth Witherspoon died. The theory fails at both steps. The deed did not create the joint tenancy Hodges claims, and even if Hodges later received an interest in the property, that interest remained subject to Wells Fargo’s recorded purchase-money mortgage.

South Carolina law provides the method for creating a joint tenancy with right of survivorship. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-7-40, survivorship does not arise by implication; the instrument must express an intent to create a right of survivorship. Hodges cannot satisfy that requirement because the deed conveyed the property to Ruth Witherspoon, not to Hodges. The phrase “heirs and assigns” did not make Hodges a present grantee or joint tenant. It is language of limitation describing the estate conveyed to the named grantee. Because Hodges was not a grantee, there was no joint tenancy between Hodges and Ruth Witherspoon for a right of survivorship to operate upon. Hodges later received an interest as an heir or distributee, and that interest remained subject to Wells Fargo’s recorded purchase-money mortgage. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-101 (providing that real property devolves at death to heirs, subject to the rights of creditors); *See also In re Mack*, No. CV 22-02503-DD, 2023 WL 1869211, at *4 (Bankr. D.S.C. Feb. 9, 2023) (recognizing that, under South Carolina law, an heir receives an interest in real property

immediately upon the borrower's death, while the mortgage creditor retains an in rem claim secured by the property).

Nor did Ruth Witherspoon's death extinguish the mortgage. The mortgage was a recorded purchase-money lien securing the debt used to buy the property. Hodges's argument would let an heir take the property free of the purchase-money mortgage simply because the heir did not sign the loan documents. That would turn mortgage law upside down. Heirs and successors take the property subject to recorded liens unless those liens are paid, released, satisfied, or otherwise extinguished by law. None of that occurred here.

Hodges's reliance on the fact that she did not sign the mortgage confuses personal liability with lien enforcement. Wells Fargo does not contend Hodges signed the note. It does not seek a deficiency judgment against her. But the absence of personal liability does not eliminate the mortgage lien. The lien attaches to the property. That is why foreclosure is an in-rem remedy directed to the collateral, not a personal judgment against Hodges. The Master correctly rejected Hodges's attempt to erase Wells Fargo's mortgage through her joint tenancy theory.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Respondent Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. respectfully requests that this Court affirm the December 12, 2024 Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale.